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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

        P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

DAVID NOHR,


)


Employee,


)



Applicant,

) 
FINAL






)
DECISION AND ORDER

v.



)






)
AWCB Case No. 200506635

MICHAEL L FOSTER & ASSOC.,
)

INC.,




)


Employer,


)
AWCB Decision No. 08-0140





)

and



)
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska






)
on July 29, 2008.

COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY
)

 INSURANCE CO.,


)


Insurer,


)



Defendants.

)







)

_____________________________
)

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim on May 15, 2008, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney M.R. Spikes represented the employee.   Attorney Colby Smith represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record was held open for submission of a supplemental affidavit of attorney fees and costs for the three days prior to the hearing and the hearing itself.  After the receipt of this evidence, the record closed when we next met on June 26, 2008.


ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190?

2. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits, specifically the medical costs of Dr. Shannon and Wasilla Physical Therapy, pursuant to AS 23.30.095?

3. Is the employee entitled to interest and penalty on medical costs not timely paid, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(b), (e) and (p), and 8 AAC 45.142?

4. Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b) and 8 AAC 45.180?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I.  FACTUAL AND MEDICAL HISTORY

The following recitation of facts and medical history is limited to that necessary to decide the issues at hand.

The employee had worked for the employer for about four years, from 2001 to 2005, doing various jobs, including supervisor, working foreman, equipment operator, and truck driver.
 The employee was working for the employer as a laborer/heavy equipment operator when he injured his left neck, shoulder and arm on April 8, 2005.
  Previously, the employee was working for the employer at Eielson Air Force Base in the fall of 2004, carrying a piece of pipe weighing about 150 pounds on his left shoulder with another person at the other end.  When he picked the pipe up over his head to move it to his right shoulder, bowing his head at the same time, he heard a “pretty good pop” in his neck, at the bottom of the neck and top of the shoulders, and felt a jolt of pain.
  The pain persisted for about three days, and kept getting better, so he decided it was going to go away and did not report it.
  He was able to work for the next couple of days in Anchorage, then went to a job in Whittier with the same employer, within a couple of days of leaving the Eielson job.
  In Whittier, the ground was frozen solid, and the haul road was a pothole road, so that running the CATS and front-end loaders were “beating us to death.”
  The employee told his engineer he couldn’t run the CAT anymore, so he was put on the front-end loader, but that job was also “rough.”
  He later testified although the pain subsided, it did not completely go away, and it started to radiate down his arm to his fingers the last month he was working the job in Whittier, in April of 2005.

The employee had previously suffered an injury to his neck on February 26, 1995, when he hit 

his head on a door sill.
  He developed neck pain and left arm pain to the elbow.
  He was seen by a physician’s assistant on the North Slope, where he was working at the time.
  He was evaluated on March 14, 1995, by Charles Kase, M.D., and diagnosed with cervical spine pain and a cervical radiculopathy.
  Dr. Kase ordered a magnetic resonance imaging (“MRI”) study, which showed:

1.  Relative straightening of the normal cervical lordosis, which can be secondary to positioning or muscle spasm.

2.  At the C3-4 level there is blunting of the right lateral recess, most likely secondary to a bony spur.

3.  At C5-6 there is posterior disc bulge that presents as a bar type defect effacing the anterior CSF and blunting the lateral recesses bilaterally, maybe slightly greater on the left side.  

4.  There is also disc bulge at C6-7, not quite as prominent as that at the level above. At this level of C6-7 it is a smooth disc bulge without complete effacement of the CSF and without definitive blunting of the neural foramina or lateral recesses.

5.  No evidence of spinal stenosis.  Prominent disc bulge, as related above, at C5-6 and to a lesser degree at C6-7 without definite herniation. 

The employee was treated with medications and physical therapy.
  Dr. Kase did not put any significant work restrictions on the employee, and the employee did not desire any.
  After June of 1995, the employee did not receive any treatment for his cervical spine until April of 2005.

The employee sought medical care for his neck pain from John Shannon, D.C., on April 11, 2005.
  He complained of cervical spine pain with left radicular symptoms to his 1st, 2nd and 3rd digits, lasting for 6 months.
 The employee stated his symptoms were the result of the work injury in November of 2004, and the symptoms had worsened in the last two months.
  Dr. Shannon ordered a magnetic resonance imaging (“MRI”) study of the employee’s cervical spine.
  The MRI, performed on April 25, 2005, showed:

1. C4-5:  A very mild, less than 1 mm, annular disc bulge is present.  However, with the central canal being the lower limits of normal, the disc creates a mild  A.P. stenosis of the central canal with a dimension of 9 mm.  Foramen are patent.

2. C5-6:  A 1.5 mm central disc protrusion lightly compresses the spinal cord and creates a mild stenosis of the central canal to 9 mm.  Foramen are patent.

3. C6-7:  A 2 mm central disc protrusion creates a moderate central canal stenosis, narrowing the A.P. dimension to 8 mm and compressing the spinal cord, without signal changes.  The neural foramen are patent. 
  

The MRI also showed a straightening of the normally expected lordotic curvature.
 

Dr. Shannon performed electrodiagnostic studies on April 29, 2005, including an electromyogram (“EMG”) and a needle conduction study (“NCS”).
  These studies revealed left sided carpal tunnel syndrome, which Dr. Shannon opined was unrelated to his cervical spine condition, and no signs of new and or active nerve damage.
  Dr. Shannon restricted the employee from working starting April 28, 2005.
  The employee continued to see Dr. Shannon from April through July, 2005, for followup of his symptoms of neck pain and radiculopathy.
  Although his response to treatment was initially favorable, with intermittent relief and mild relapses, on his August 3, 2005 visit, he complained of a marked increase in left upper extremity numbness and tingling.
  Therefore, Dr. Shannon referred the employee to physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist Larry Levine, M.D., of the Alaska Spine Institute.
  The employee saw Dr. Levine on September 6, 2005, for a transforaminal epidural steroid injection for his C6 and C7 foraminal stenosis and C6 and C7 radiculitis.
  The employee continued to followup with Dr. Shannon through September, October and November for his neck and left arm symptoms.

At the employer’s request, on October 18, 2005, the employee was evaluated by M. Earl Duncan, D.C., and orthopedic surgeon Steven Schilperoort, M.D.
  He was diagnosed with a history of onset of neck pain in November of 2004, with recurrent neck and left upper extremity symptoms in December of 2003, secondary to underlying degenerative disc/joint disease.
  They opined the employee did not sustain any work related injury to his neck and the treatment he had received, while reasonable, was for his underlying degenerative condition and further, any necessary future treatment would be for his underlying condition as well.
  They did acknowledge his work activities may have symptomatically aggravated his condition, but stated there was no evidence of an actual worsening of the condition itself.
  In addition, Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort stated the employee did not sustain any PPI attributable to his work activities, but that due to his underlying degenerative condition, he should not return to his usual occupation.

The employee underwent another cervical spine MRI on November 4, 2005 at the request of Dr. Shannon.
  The MRI revealed:

1. … a large protrusion to the left of midline at [C]6-7 with mass effect on the exiting left C7 nerve.

2. … diffuse bulging at [C]5-6 but I do not see mass effect on either C6 nerve.

3. … a tiny midline protrusion at the [C]4-C5 level, which does not exert mass effect on the adjacent neural elements.

4. …reversal of the cervical lordosis, consistent with muscular spasm.

Dr. Levine evaluated the employee for his neck pain with radiation into the left arm and numbness on November 15, 2005. Dr. Levine found the November 4, 2005 cervical spine MRI, 

showed a large protrusion to the left at midline at C6-C7 with mass effect on the exiting left C7 nerve root, and a bulge at C5-C6 without significant mass effect.
 He also noted a tiny midline protrusion at C4-C5 and reversal of the cervical lordotic curve.
  Dr. Levine diagnosed the employee with left C7 radiculopathy, consisting of paresthesias in the classic C7 distribution, but with no overt axonal loss per the electro diagnostic studies performed by Dr. Shannon.
  Dr. Levine performed an epidural steroid injection at C6 and C7.
  He opined the employee might need referral for surgery for decompression and fusion in the future,
  and referred the employee for physical therapy, which the employee began on November 21, 2005.
 The employee was seen by James Glenn, PA-C, at Alaska Spine Institute again on December 13, 2005 for followup.
  The employee reported he was completing his physical therapy and his physical symptoms had improved considerably, although he still suffered from neck pain and pain in the posterior left arm to the fingers of his left hand, and numbness.
  He also reported having obtained some relief of his pain after the prior epidural steroid injection.
  P.A. Glenn opined the employee was doing well and would not need surgical intervention at that time.
  The employee saw P.A. Glenn again on January 18, 2006, at which time he reported continued, moderate improvement in his symptoms, but not resolution of his symptoms.
  Again, P.A. Glenn opined no surgery was indicated as long as the employee’s symptoms were improving.
  The employee continued his followup appointments with Dr. Shannon thereafter.

On February 1, 2006, Dr. Shannon performed a PPI rating on the employee.  Dr. Shannon placed the employee in the diagnosis-related estimate (“DRE”) category II, as the employee has a herniated or bulging disc compromising a nerve root on the side that one would expect to be affected and consistent with the patient’s symptoms.
  Dr. Shannon noted the employee was complaining of cervical spine pain and “numbness in the left upper extremity following the C7 dermatome into digits three-two and one-two being the most prominent.”
  He also noted in his report that the November 4, 2005 cervical spine MRI revealed a large protrusion to the left of midline at C6-C7 with mass affect exiting the left C7 nerve.
  Dr. Shannon opined although the employee’s activities of daily living were affected, those activities had not been affected greatly enough to warrant more than a 5% whole person impairment.
  
During his May 19, 2006 deposition, the employee described the symptoms he had at the end of his employment with the employer and his current symptoms, due to his cervical spine condition.
  He testified at the end of his employment, he was having symptoms of neck pain and pain, numbness and tingling starting at the base of his neck, going down the back of his left upper arm, the top of his left forearm, to his left middle and index fingers and thumb.
  He testified the symptoms were continuing, but the numbness and tingling in the left middle finger had resolved.
  The employee testified the pain never really goes away, it is constantly at a level of  3 on a scale of 1 to 10.
  He testified he had good days and bad days as far as his symptoms were concerned.
  He further testified concerning an episode that occurred about one week before the deposition took place, when he was working for Philbin Construction.
  He testified he was walking down the sidewalk in Anchorage when he hit a dip in the sidewalk “kind of flat-footed” and it gave a jar, which it took him a couple of days to get over.
  He testified that after a couple of days of taking it easy, sitting in an easy chair with his cervical pillow to keep his head tilted forward, the pain went back to a 3 on a scale of 1 to 10, where it has been since he finished working for the employer in Whittier.

The employee was seen by physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist Alan Roth, M.D., for a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”) on May 15, 2007.
  Dr. Roth reviewed the employee’s medical records and performed a physical examination, which included range of motion (“ROM”) of the cervical spine and upper extremities, which he found to be normal.
  Dr. Roth opined the employee suffered from cervical disk degeneration and protrusions without objective evidence of radiculopathy, prior history of carpal tunnel syndrome with trigger finger.
  He testified he did not regard the MRI studies performed on April 25, 2005 and November 4, 2005 as significantly different from the one performed on April 11, 1995, which also demonstrated disc bulges in the neck.
  Dr. Roth opined the MRI from November of 2005 was identical to the two prior MRI’s of April 1995 and April 2005.
  Dr. Roth testified that at the time he evaluated the employee, he was unaware the employee had complained of another work related injury which aggravated his neck injury during his subsequent employment with Philbin.
  He opined if this flare-up of symptoms was permanent, it would be significant.
  Dr. Roth testified when he examined the employee he did not demonstrate any radicular pain, and that the employee told him that prior to 2004 and 2005, he did not have any neck pain.
  Dr. Roth opined the work injury of April 8, 2005 was a substantial factor in the need for treatment.
  Dr. Roth further testified the employee’s work injuries in 2004 and 2005 represented a temporary flare-up of his preexisting cervical condition that would have resolved within six months to a year.
  He opined there would be no future medical treatment that was reasonable and necessary as a result of the employee’s 2004 and 2005 work injuries and that he had reached medical stability within a month or two after January 2006.
  Based on the AMA Guides, Fifth edition, using the DRE method,
  Dr. Roth rated the employee’s PPI as follows:

In my opinion, given the herniated disc and absence of objective findings suggesting radiculopathy and the history of injury, the patient probably does fit in within DRE Level II Cervical Spine at 5% whole person impairment.

This impairment rating is in large part as a result of MRI findings.  The MRI findings, admittedly, from over ten years ago would have led one to the same conclusion; although, from a symptomatic basis, there may be some increase in the level of symptoms based on the patient’s history.
 

At his deposition, Dr. Roth opined this 5% PPI rating was all attributable to the employee’s preexisting cervical condition, and none of it was attributable to the work injuries while working for the employer.
  

In his July 22, 2007 narrative report, Dr. Shannon reviewed the medical care he had provided to the employee and explained his PPI rating performed on the employee by the range of motion (“ROM”) method was technically invalid.
  Dr. Shannon also opined “there is almost no question” the employee will require ongoing care for his condition.
  He further opined it is likely the employee will require surgical intervention at some point in the future.

II.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The employee completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (“ROI”) on May 2, 2005, stating he had injured his neck, shoulder and arm operating a CAT.
  The employer disputed the report, stating the employee did not notify the employer of any injury until after the project ended, his description of the cause of injury had changed from the initial contact, and the employee had told the employer he had gone through a bad bankruptcy, that he should not have to start over, and that he wanted to retire.
  On August 31, 2005, Dr. Shannon filed a workers’ compensation claim (“WCC”) for $3,428.00 for medical benefits provided to the employee, plus penalties and interest.
  The employer controverted all benefits on November 16, 2005, based on the October 18, 2005 EME report.
  On March 29, 2006, the employer controverted PPI benefits based on the October 18, 2005 EME report, in which Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort opined the employee had not sustained any measurable impairment as a result of his alleged work injury.
  On December 7, 2006, the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim (“WCC”) stating he was “operating a Cat, which requires compromised body position while watching rear ripper, work area, severe pounding due to frozen ground caused by weather conditions” when he injured his neck, shoulder and arm.
  The injury date was April 8, 2005.
  He claimed permanent partial impairment (“PPI”), medical costs of $4,500.00, and attorney’s fees and costs of $3,036.30. The employer filed an Answer to the employee’s WCC on January 4, 2007, in which it disputed the employee’s claim for PPI and medical costs after October 18, 2005, based on the October 18, 2005 EME report of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort, the employee’s claim for medical costs prior to October 18, 2005, based on no documentation, and attorney’s fees and costs based on no benefit to the employee resulting from the work performed by his attorney.
 On April 3, 2006, the employer controverted the employee’s claim for PPI, as well as all other benefits, also based on the October 18, 2005 EME report.
  Again on May 18, 2006, the employer controverted all benefits relying on the April 11, 2006 EME report of Dr. Schilperoort, which stated the employee was medically stable, had incurred no PPI, and required no further medical treatment.
  The employer also controverted PPI, medical costs and attorney’s fees and costs on January 5, 2007.
  In this controversion, the employer stated no documentation had been submitted indicating when the medical bills were incurred, and requested documentation of medical bills incurred prior to the October 18, 2005 EME report of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort.

III.  HEARING TESTIMONY

A. Employee’s Testimony

The employee testified he worked for the employer in 2004, as an equipment operator and laborer in many locations, from the Richardson Highway to Whittier.  He testified he was working at Eielson Air Force Base when he injured his neck.  He testified he told his coworker about the injury, but was reluctant to make a claim, because he was “job scared”.  The employee further testified he did tell Greg, the support engineer and the boss, about the incident, but he told Greg he thought he would be OK.  He further testified his neck was sore for the next couple of days, but he “took it easy” for two days and also took Ibuprofen.  The employee testified he next worked for employer in Whittier, from November 2004 to April 2005, as an equipment operator, driving a dozer.  He testified his neck began to hurt again, and the pain radiated down his left arm to the fingers of his left hand, causing his fingers to “tingle”.  He testified he told both the supervisor and the engineer on the project that he wanted to get off the dozer and stay on the front end loader, as operating the dozer was too hard on him.  He testified the engineer agreed to let him stay on the front end loader for the last two weeks of the job.  The employee further testified he did not report his injury or file a claim in November, as he was afraid the employer would fire him.  He testified he went to the employer and told him he was having problems with his neck and that he was going to file a claim.  The employee testified the employer told him he would be terminated if he filed a claim, and he further testified the employer did in fact fire him after he filed his WCC.  The employee testified that since the medical benefits were controverted in November of 2006, he stopped treatment.

The employee admitted he had suffered a work injury to his neck prior to the current one, 10 to 12 years ago, when he walked into a door jamb.  He testified the reason he did not acknowledge having been treated previously for neck and arm pain at his May 19, 2008 deposition, was never an attempt to deceive anyone or hide anything, but the prior injury was a minor one, for which he filed a report, but not a claim.  He testified he did not remember being diagnosed with cervical radiculopathy or having the 1995 cervical spine MRI. 

The employee also testified that he had received treatment for another medical problem requiring surgery in 2001.  He testified that after the surgery when he was in the recovery room and the breathing tube was removed, his airway collapsed and he was without 100% oxygen for about 20 minutes, until a doctor performed a tracheotomy. He testified because of the oxygen deprivation for that amount of time, they were concerned about brain damage, and he does in fact have memory problems.  He testified he remembers events, but sometimes cannot remember the details.

The employee testified concerning the medical evaluations he had undergone in October of 2005.  He testified the two doctors asked him questions, and performed a brief, 5 to 10 minute examination in which they tested his reflexes and tested him with “a meter that you squeeze”.  He testified he did not remember them asking him about his past medical history.  With regard to the evaluation done by Dr. Roth, the employee testified Dr. Roth told him he was going to evaluate the employee’s immediate situation, and he did not remember Dr. Roth performing range of motion as part of the physical examination.  

The employee testified his current symptoms are that he has to lean back to look up, as he cannot bend his head back at the neck.  He also testified turning his head from side-to-side is painful.

B. Dr. Shannon’s Testimony

Dr. Shannon testified the PPI rating he performed in February of 2006, using the DRE method and resulting in a 5% whole person impairment, is the correct PPI for the employee.  He testified he chose the DRE method in February of 2006, as he was unaware at the time the employee had a prior cervical spine injury.  He testified when he learned of the prior injury, he mistakenly thought the employee had a 5% PPI rating for the prior injury, and repeated the PPI rating using the ROM method.  Dr. Shannon further testified there are two problems with the PPI he performed using the ROM method:  1) it was technically flawed; and 2) it is not the correct method of performing a PPI on the employee, since although he had a prior cervical spine injury, he had not had a prior PPI rating on his cervical spine due to that injury.   Dr. Shannon testified he did not agree with the statement made by Dr. Roth in his SIME report to the effect that the employee had a 5% PPI rating, but attributing it to the 1995 injury based on the 1995 MRI.  Dr. Shannon testified a PPI rate cannot be performed based on imagining studies, such as an MRI, alone, according to the AMA Guides. He further testified he was not qualified to read MRI’s, so that was the reason he did not view the MRI’s themselves in preparing his PPI rating.  He testified he relied on the reports of the radiologists, who were qualified to properly interpret MRI’s.  Dr. Shannon further testified a PPI rating cannot be done 10 years after the fact, but must be done at the time of maximum medical improvement (“MMI”), per the AMA Guides.  

Dr. Shannon testified that if all of his bills had been paid, he would withdraw his WCC dated August 30. 2005 for $3,428.00, but not any penalty or interest that might be due.  Dr. Shannon testified he did not know when his bills were submitted to the employer’s workers’ compensation  carrier.  He testified he would not assert a claim for a penalty if the bills were paid in a timely fashion according to the Act.  He further testified he would rely on the dates indicated by the billing records as to when the bills went out, as the bills were computer generated.

IV.  ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

  A.  Employee’s Arguments

The employee first argued he did not report his injuries immediately as he was fearful his position would be terminated, and that he should therefore be excused under AS 23.30.100(d)(2).  In addition, he argues he did in fact report his injury to his supervisor at Eielson Air Force Base.

The employee argued the doctors who performed the EME and SIME knew of his prior neck injury.  He contended there was evidence in the record that showed he told Dr. Roth about the incident as he understood it.  For example, he argued the SIME physician Dr. Roth noted on page 2 of the past medical history in his May 15, 2007 report that the employee’s medical history was significant for an injury when he was “smacked in the head,” although the employee did not recall any particular neck injuries for prolonged periods of time, only transient neck discomfort.  The employee contended Dr. Roth testified in his August 9, 2007 deposition on page 8, that the employee had given a history of a prior injury to his head and neck when he at one point was smacked in the head by something.  As to Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort, although the employee may not have told them of the 1995 injury, the October 18, 2005 EME report on page 3 notes the doctors were aware of the information from the SIME cover letter.

The employee argued Dr. Shannon’s bills have been mailed to the employer for the last two years as appropriate, when the care was provided, and the bills have been outstanding for two years.  The employee also argued someone from Wasilla Physical Therapy could testify concerning when they sent their bills to the employer.

  B. Employer’s Arguments
The employer conceded Dr. Shannon’s July 22, 2007 report established the employee is entitled to medical benefits.  However, the employer maintained no medical bills had been submitted sufficient to establish the presumption he was entitled to ongoing medical benefits.  Further, the employer contended if we determined the employee did have enough evidence to trigger the presumption for his claim to PPI and ongoing medical benefits, the employer unequivocally rebutted the presumption, relying on the opinions of Drs. Schilperoort and Duncan.

Concerning the PPI benefits, the employer, relying on the opinion of Dr. Roth, maintained the employee’s PPI rating of 5% of the whole person, was incurred previous to the work injury with the employer, as demonstrated by the 1995 cervical spine MRI, and not attributable to the work injury.  The employer argued Dr. Roth actually interpreted the MRI’s of the employee’s cervical spine and determined there was no difference in the three MRI’s.  The employer also contended a PPI rating may be performed based on imaging studies and medical records alone, without an in-person evaluation.  In addition, the employer argued the PPI rating of 11% performed by Dr. Shannon was done improperly and without knowledge of the employee’s prior MRI studies or cervical treatment.

Concerning medical benefits, the employer argued no outstanding medical bills had been submitted.  Further, the employer argued the employee was not entitled to any further reasonable or necessary medical treatment due to his work injuries per Drs. Schilperoort and Duncan and Dr. Roth, all of whom opined the employee did not need any further medical treatment.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
MEDICAL BENEFITS 
AS 23.30.095(a), at the time of the employee’s November 2004 and April 2005 work injury, provided, in part:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....it shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.

AS 23.30.120 provides, in relevant part:

(a)  In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1)  The claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

….

We find the employer conceded at hearing that it has accepted the employee’s claim and will pay all outstanding medical bills of Dr. Shannon and Wasilla Physical Therapy.  Therefore, the discussion that follows concerns whether or not the employee is entitled to ongoing medical benefits.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp. "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
 To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  In Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) also specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under subsection .095(a).
 

We find the employee filed a ROI on May 2, 2005, and successfully filed a WCC on December 7, 2006, against the employer.  We find the testimony of the employee concerning the development of neck pain in November of 2004, which partially subsided, followed by increasing neck pain and pain in the left arm at his work, combined with the medical reports of his treating physicians, Dr. Shannon and Dr. Levine, are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of the compensability for medical benefits. We also find the medical records are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that his medical care has been reasonable and necessary for his work injury.   

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical treatment is not for the work-related injury.
  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability for benefits: (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer a treatable work‑related condition; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the claimed medical benefits are work-related, reasonable, or necessary.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer’s evidence until and we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s injury entitles him to benefits.

We find the opinions of the EME physicians, Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort, that the employee did not need any additional medical treatment as a result of his work activities, rebut the presumption of compensability for ongoing medical benefits.  Additionally, we find the SIME physician, Dr. Roth, opined the employee’s work injury only caused a temporary aggravation of his preexisting condition, that the employee was medically stable when he completed physical therapy in early 2008, and also that he did not require any further treatment due to his work injury, also rebuts the presumption.  When viewed in isolation, we find these opinions rebut the presumption of compensability.

The third stage of the presumption analysis provides that if the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence that the need for medical benefits is not work related, the presumption of compensability drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  

 We choose to rely primarily on the opinion of the employee’s treating physician Dr. Shannon, and we find his opinion supported by Dr. Levine.  We are not persuaded by the opinions of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort.  We find their opinions, as they only evaluated the employee once and reviewed his medical records,  cannot be considered to be comprehensive and reliable as required to rule out the employee’s work injury and resulting symptoms as a factor for his ongoing disability and need for medical treatment.  In addition, they opined the employee was medically stable in October of 2005,  although his treating physicians and Dr. Roth opined he was not medically stable until he completed physical therapy early in 2006.
   Although Dr. Roth also only saw the employee once and reviewed his medical records, we find Dr. Roth’s opinion more complete as his evaluation was performed after the employee was medically stable and his review of the medical records was based on a review of the medical records almost up to the time of medical stability.

In the instant case, we find the preponderance of the available evidence, specifically the opinions of the employee’s treating physicians, Drs. Shannon and Levine, the testimony of the employee, and the medical records, show the employee is entitled to medical benefits, as a result of his work-related cervical spine condition and symptoms. We find the January 18, 2006 clinic note of Dr. Levine opined the employee might need cervical decompression and fusion in the future if he had an increase in his overall symptoms in the future.  We find Dr. Shannon opined in his July 22, 2007 narrative report the employee would need ongoing medical treatment and possibly surgery in the future. We find the testimony of the employee proved he had ongoing symptoms of neck pain, radiating to his left arm and fingers, with pain and tingling, which was still constant at a level of 3 on a scale of 1 to 10 at the time of his deposition on May 19, 2006.  We find he also testified this pain increased substantially if he moved in the wrong way, such as by stepping off a curb.  We find at hearing he testified he still suffered from pain as he moved his head from side-to-side or bent his neck back to look up.  

We find Dr. Shannon credible.
  We find he was honest, frank and forthcoming in his testimony, and readily admitted any mistakes he had made, such as the invalid PPI rating performed by the ROM method.  We also find he was candid about his areas of expertise and deferred to the radiologists as the most qualified experts to read MRI’s.

We find the employee credible.
  We find his testimony was honest and forthright.  We find there were inconsistencies in his testimony, such as his apparent failure to tell Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort of his prior neck injury in 1995.  However, we find this inconsistency was not the result of the employee’s deliberate attempt to deceive or mislead, but rather the result of his understanding and memory of that prior injury, which had happened 10 years prior to the EME evaluation on May 15, 2005.  We find the employee remembered the 1995 injury as insignificant, as the symptoms resolved completely and he sought no medical treatment for any cervical spine condition until April 2005.  Further, we do not find significant the inconsistencies in his memory of the evaluation performed by Dr. Roth, where he apparently did not remember Dr. Roth having performed ROM as part of his physical examination.  

In Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon
 the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment recommended by a treating physician within two years of a work-related injury as reasonable, necessary, corroborated, and acceptable medical practice, is compensable.  The Court’s decision 

develops the presumption analysis, as first articulated in Carter.
  Between two legitimate, yet contradictory opinions about the efficacy of treatment, the employee may choose to follow the recommendations of his/her own physician.
  To overcome the compensability of such treatment recommended within two years of the injury, the employer must meet the “heavy burden” of proving such treatment is neither reasonable, necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
   We find the employee’s initial treatment was recommended within the two-year time limit of Hibdon, and we also find the employer has agreed to pay the employee’s claim for past medical benefits; that is, the bills of Dr. Shannon and Wasilla Physical Therapy.  We find the employee’s treating physicians have opined the employee requires ongoing medical treatment and possible future surgery for his cervical spine condition.  Based on the opinions of the employee’s treating physicians, and the record as a whole, we find medical treatment in the future may be reasonable and necessary.  We shall retain jurisdiction to address any claims for medical benefits if those benefits are controverted in the future.  We shall order the employer to pay any of the $4,550.00 medical costs of Dr. Shannon that remain to be paid.  We shall also order the employer to pay any of the $1,275.00 in medical bills of Wasilla Physical Therapy that remain to be paid. 

II.
PENALTIES

AS 23.30.155 provides in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days . . . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

The employee claims penalties for the unpaid medical benefits, as provided in AS 23.30.155(e).  Nevertheless, the record reflects that the employer filed a Notice of Controversion, beginning November 9, 2005, under AS 23.30.155(d), denying medical benefits for the employee’s cervical spine condition.  The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc. ,
 that an employer or insurer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:  

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.... For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

Because the employer in Harp did not have substantial evidence to support its controversion, the Court found the controversion was not in good faith, and that a penalty was due under 
AS 23.30.155(e).
  In the instant case, the employer controverted the employee’s medical benefits based on the opinion of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort in their October 18, 2005 EME report, that the employee did not require further treatment for a work related condition.  In Bailey v. Texas Instruments Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that the opinion of a medical witness can provide substantial evidence sufficient to allow an employer to prevail at hearing, if uncontradicted, and that such an opinion is substantial evidence
 to support a controversion in good faith.
  We find the October 15, 2005 EME report of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort provides substantial evidence supporting the employer’s denial of medical treatment for that condition.
  We find the opinion of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort provides sufficient evidence to support a good faith controversion.  We find the employer denied benefits for the cervical spine condition based on the October 18, 2005 EME report of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort on November 16, 2005. Accordingly, we conclude no penalties are due for any medical bills under AS 23.30.155(e) following the October 18, 2005 EME report. 

We find no substantial evidence in the record before the EME report of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort rebutting the presumption of compensability.  We must find the denial of benefits prior to October 18, 2005 was not supported by substantial evidence in the record; and we must conclude nonpayment of medical benefits prior to October 18, 2005 was not in good faith.  In accord with the Court’s rationale in Harp, we conclude that penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) are due on all benefits denied before October 18, 2005, if bills were submitted for that period and not timely paid.
  However, we find there is not sufficient evidence in the record to determine whether the bills were submitted and not timely paid.  We shall direct the parties to set a prehearing conference to discuss the issue of a penalty on any medical bills submitted for care prior to October 18, 2005 and not timely paid.  We remind the employee that the employer is not obligated to pay medical benefits until the employer has been furnished with the medical provider’s bill and the respective medical reports pursuant to 8 AAC 45.082(d).

III.
INTEREST

AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

(a)
If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.


(b)  The employer shall pay interest. . . .
(3)  on late-paid medical benefits to

(A)  The employee … if the employee has paid the provider … or

(B)  To the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly, we will award interest to the employee, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due, if in fact the bills were not paid when due.  However, we find there is not sufficient evidence in the record to determine whether the bills were submitted and not timely paid.  We shall direct the parties to set a prehearing conference to discuss the issue of interest on any medical bills submitted for care prior to October 18, 2005 and not timely paid.  Again, we remind the employee that the employer is not obligated to pay medical benefits until the employer is provided with the health care provider’s bill and the respective medical reports, pursuant 8 AAC 45.082(d).

IV.  PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT 
AS 23.30.190 provides, in relevant part:

          (a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum,  except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . ."

          (b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a   permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

AS 23.30.395(27) provides, in pertinent part:

“medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time;….

As noted earlier, the presumption of compensability applies to all claims for benefits.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
   We find Dr. Shannon has evaluated the employee’s PPI at 5% by the DRE method and 11% by the ROM method and therefore the employee has raised the presumption of compensability for his PPI.

To overcome a presumption once it attaches, the employer must present substantial evidence that the benefits claimed are not compensable.
   We find the opinion of Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort expressed in their October 18, 2005 EME report, and the opinion expressed in the SIME report of Dr. Roth, viewed in isolation, are substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.   

At the third stage, the employee must prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence. We find the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee suffers a ratable permanent partial impairment from his work injury while working for the employer.  Specifically, based on the testimony of Dr. Shannon and the employee and our review of the entire record, we find the employee has a permanent partial impairment due to his cervical spine condition and this impairment was caused by the employee’s work injury.  We further find, based on Dr. Shannon’s testimony, the work injury was a substantial factor in bringing about the 5% whole person permanent impairment Dr. Shannon assessed.  We find Dr. Shannon performed the PPI rating in February of 2006, close to the time the employee reached medical stability.
  We find according to the AMA Guides a permanent impairment rating may be performed when the individual has reached maximal medical improvement, or when further recovery or deterioration is not anticipated.
  We find maximal medical improvement correlates well with medical stability, which is defined under the Act as meaning “the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonable expected to result from additional medical care or treatment….”
  We find Dr. Shannon performed the PPI rating based on an in-person examination, taking into account the patient’s symptoms, diagnostic tests, including imaging studies, and functional status, including activities of daily living, in accordance with the AMA Guides.  We find the employee’s testimony at his deposition in May of 2006 concerning his symptoms revealed he had continuing symptoms of neck pain, with radiation to his left arm and fingers of 3 on a scale of 1 to 10, ever since April of 2005.  We find the medical records show although the employee suffered a work injury to his cervical spine in 1995, he was not treated for that condition for ten years, until April of 2005 after his injury while working for the employer.  We find the serial MRI’s of March 1995, April 2005 and November of 2005, performed on the employee’s cervical spine, as interpreted by the radiologists, Drs. Phillips, Bridges, and McCormick, respectively, show a progression of the disc protrusions at C5-6 and C6-7.  We find, for example, in 1995 the disc protrusion at C6-7 was noted to be less prominent than the one at the level above, whereas in April of 2005, the disc protrusion at C6-7 was noted to be larger than the one above.  We also find the November 2005 MRI revealed a “large protrusion” to the left of midline at C6-7, with mass effect on the exiting left C7 nerve.  In summary, we find the record as a whole proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the finding of a 5% whole person PPI impairment as found by Dr. Shannon, with the  work injury at the employer’s being a substantial factor in the 5% whole person PPI rating, is correct.  

We find Drs. Duncan and Schilperoort opined the employee did not sustain any measurable impairment as a result of his work activities, and attributed the current impairment the employee did have, including loss of range of motion and radicular type symptoms, to his preexisting degenerative condition.  We find they acknowledged the employee could not return to his usual occupation, but again opined this was due to his preexisting degenerative condition.  However, as noted above, we find these opinions are not substantial evidence, as they are based on a single in-person examination of the employee before he had reached medical stability, and the opinions merely point to another cause of the disability, but do not eliminate the work injury as a substantial cause of the disability.
  

We find Dr. Roth performed a PPI rating on May 15, 2007, finding the employee had a 5% whole person impairment due to his cervical spine condition.  However, we also find Dr. Roth opined the 5% rating was attributable to the 1995 cervical spine injury, based on the 1995 cervical spine MRI.

We find according to the AMA Guides to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (“AMA Guides”),
   “[T]he physician’s role in performing an impairment rating is to provide an independent, unbiased assessment of the individual’s medical condition, including its effect on function, and identify abilities and limitations to performing activities of daily living…”.
  In addition, a positive imaging study alone does not make the diagnosis; rather, to be of diagnostic value, clinical symptoms and signs must agree with the imaging findings.
  Therefore, we are not persuaded by Dr. Roth’s opinion that the 5% PPI rating can be attributed to the 1995 injury based on the 1995 MRI alone, without an assessment of the employee’s medical condition, its effect on function, and identification of abilities and limitations to performing activities of daily living at that time.  We do not find reliable Dr. Roth’s opinion that there was no difference in the serial cervical spine MRI’s performed on the employee, as the reports authored by the radiologists who interpreted the MRI’s showed significant changes, as discussed above.  We note Dr. Roth opined the degenerative changes shown in the April 2005 cervical spine MRI could not have resulted from the injury on April 8, 2005, as it takes at least 8 months to a year before degenerative changes will show up on the MRI.  We find Dr. Roth was apparently not aware of the injury in November of 2004, 5 months prior to the April, 2005 MRI and 11 months prior to the October, 2005 MRI.  We find the degenerative changes apparent on the October, 2005 MRI, could be the result of the November 2004 injury, 11 months prior, based on Dr. Roth’s testimony concerning how long after an injury it takes for degenerative changes to show up on an MRI.  In summary, we are not convinced by Dr. Roth’s opinion attributing the employee’s 5% PPI rating back to the 1995 MRI.
Considering all of the foregoing discussion on the appropriate PPI rating for the employee, the preponderance of the evidence shows, and we find, the employee’s whole person impairment due is 5%, all of which is attributable to the work injury of April 8, 2005.

V.  ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:


(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

8 AAC 45.180 states, in relevant part:


(b)  .... An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30..145(a) must (a) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.  It the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee….

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court 

noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

The employee failed to submit an affidavit of attorney fees and costs in a timely fashion three working days before the hearing as required by 8 AAC 45.180.  However, we held the record open to permit the employee to submit an affidavit for the attorney’s fees and costs for the period of time three days before the hearing and the hearing itself.  The employee submitted a supplemental statement of itemized attorney fees at the rate of $250.00 per hour for sixteen hours in the amount of $4,000.00.

The employer objected to the employee’s submission of a supplemental affidavit of attorney fees where no affidavit of attorney fees and costs had been submitted in a timely fashion.  We shall allow the submission of the supplemental affidavit as it serves substantial justice and the objective of ensuring competent counsel are available to represent injured workers articulated by the Alaska Supreme Court in Wien Air Alaska v. Arant.

Based on our review of the record, we find the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the employee.  Specifically, we find the employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the employee’s entitlement to benefits.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 
8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The employee’s affidavits of fees and costs in the supplemental statement itemize the following for Attorney M.R. Spikes:  
1) 16 hours of attorney time at $250.00 per hour, totaling $4,000.00.  

We note the claimed hourly rate of $250.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  We found the employee counsel’s brief and arguments at hearing of great benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  We find this was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  We will award actual attorney fees at the rate of $250.00 per hour for the attorney time claims in the supplemental affidavit submitted.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the above-mentioned attorney fees reasonable for the successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits.  We will award a total of $4,000.00 as reasonable actual attorney fees and statutory attorney’s fees.  


ORDER
1.  The employer shall pay any outstanding medical costs to Dr. Shannon and Wasilla Physical Therapy, pursuant to AS 23.30.095.

2. The parties shall request a prehearing conference to discuss the issues of interest and penalties on the medical costs.   We shall retain jurisdiction over these issues.

3. The employee is entitled to PPI benefits for a 5% whole person PPI rating under 
AS 23.30.190.

4. The employee is entitled to attorney’s fees in the amount of $4,000.00 for the period three days prior to the hearing and the hearing, pursuant to AS 23.30.145.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on July 29, 2008.
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